San Jose State University SJSU ScholarWorks

Mineta Transportation Institute Publications

2-2019

Attracting and Retaining Women in the Transportation Industry

Jodi Godfrey University of South Florida

Robert L. Bertini University of South Florida

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/mti_publications Part of the <u>Transportation Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Jodi Godfrey and Robert L. Bertini. "Attracting and Retaining Women in the Transportation Industry" *Mineta Transportation Institute Publications* (2019).

This Report is brought to you for free and open access by SJSU ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Mineta Transportation Institute Publications by an authorized administrator of SJSU ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@sjsu.edu.





Attracting and Retaining Women in the Transportation Industry

Jodi Godfrey, MSCE Robert L. Bertini, Ph.D.



MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

transweb.sjsu.edu

MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE LEAD UNIVERSITY OF

Mineta Consortium for Transportation Mobility

Founded in 1991, the Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI), an organized research and training unit in partnership with the Lucas College and Graduate School of Business at San José State University (SJSU), increases mobility for all by improving the safety, efficiency, accessibility, and convenience of our nation's transportation system. Through research, education, workforce development, and technology transfer, we help create a connected world. MTI leads the four-university Mineta Consortium for Transportation Mobility, a Tier I University Transportation Center funded by the U.S. Department of Transportation's Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology (OST-R), the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), and by private grants and donations.

MTI's transportation policy work is centered on three primary responsibilities:

Research

MTI works to provide policy-oriented research for all levels of government and the private sector to foster the development of optimum surface transportation systems. Research areas include: bicycle and pedestrian issues; financing public and private sector transportation improvements; intermodal connectivity and integration; safety and security of transportation systems; sustainability of transportation systems; transportation / land use / environment; and transportation planning and policy development. Certified Research Associates conduct the research. Certification requires an advanced degree, generally a Ph.D., a record of academic publications, and professional references. Research projects culminate in a peer-reviewed publication, available on TransWeb, the MTI website (http://transweb.sjsu.edu).

Education

The Institute supports education programs for students seeking a career in the development and operation of surface transportation systems. MTI, through San José State University, offers an AACSB-accredited Master of Science in Transportation Management and graduate certificates in Transportation Management, Transportation Security, and High-Speed Rail Management that serve to prepare the nation's transportation managers for the 21st century. With the

active assistance of the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), MTI delivers its classes over a state-of-the-art videoconference network throughout the state of California and via webcasting beyond, allowing working transportation professionals to pursue an advanced degree regardless of their location. To meet the needs of employers seeking a diverse workforce, MTI's education program promotes enrollment to under-represented groups.

Information and Technology Transfer

MTI utilizes a diverse array of dissemination methods and media to ensure research results reach those responsible for managing change. These methods include publication, seminars, workshops, websites, social media, webinars, and other technology transfer mechanisms. Additionally, MTI promotes the availability of completed research to professional organizations and journals and works to integrate the research findings into the graduate education program. MTI's extensive collection of transportation- related publications is integrated into San José State University's world-class Martin Luther King, Jr. Library.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The report is funded, partially or entirely, by a grant from the U.S. Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers Program. This report does not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the U.S. government, State of California, or the Mineta Transportation Institute, who assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard specification, design standard, or regulation.

REPORT WP 19-01

ATTRACTING AND RETAINING WOMEN IN THE TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY

Jodi Godfrey, MSCE Robert L. Bertini, Ph.D.

February 2019

A publication of **Mineta Transportation Institute** Created by Congress in 1991

College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

| 1. | Report No. WP 19-01 | 2. Government Accession No. | 3. Recipient's Cata | alog No. | |
|------------|---|--|--|------------------|--|
| 4. | Title and Subtitle Attracting and Retaining Women in the Transportation Industry | | 5. Report Date February 2019 | | |
| | | 6. Performing Organization Code | | | |
| 7. Authors | | | 8. Performing Org | anization Report | |
| | Godfrey, Jodi, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5747-3958 Bertini, Robert, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5580-5293 | | CA-MTI-1893 | | |
| 9. | Performing Organization Name and Address Mineta Transportation Institute | | 10. Work Unit No. | | |
| | College of Business San José State University | | 11. Contract or Grant No. 69A3551747127 | | |
| | San José, CA 95192-0219 | | | | |
| 12. | Sponsoring Agency Name and Addree U.S. Department of Transportation | 13. Type of Report and Period Covered Final Report | | | |
| | Office of the Assistant Secretary for | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | |
| | Research and Technology University Transportation Centers Progr | 14. Sponsoring Age | ency Code | | |
| | 1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE | | | | |
| 15. | Washington, DC 20590 15. Supplemental Notes | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| 16. | 16. Abstract This study synthesized previously conducted research and identified additional research needed to attract, promote, and retain women in the transportation industry. This study will detail major findings and subsequent recommendations, based on the annotated bibliography, of the current atmosphere and the most successful ways to attract and retain young women in the transportation industry in the future. Oftentimes, it is perception that drives women away from the transportation industry, as communal goals are not emphasized in transportation. Men are attracted to agentic goals, whereas women tend to be more attracted to communal goals (Diekman et al., 2011). While this misalignment of goals has been found to be one reason that women tend to avoid the transportation industry, there are ways to highlight the goal congruity processes that contribute to transportation engineering, planning, operations, maintenance, and decisions—thus attracting the most talented individuals, regardless of gender. Other literature has pointed to the lack of female role models and mentors as one reason that it is difficult to attract women to transportation (Dennehy & Dasgupta, 2017). It is encouraging to know that attention is being placed on the attraction and retention of women in all fields, as it will increase the probability that the best individual is attracted to the career that best fits their abilities, regardless of gender. | | | | |
| 17. | 17. Key Words 18. Distribution Statement | | | | |
| | Gender; females; labor force; labor market; employment | No restrictions. This document is available to the public through The National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161 | | | |
| 19. | Security Classif. (of this report) Unclassified | 20. Security Classif. (of this page) Unclassified | 21. No. of Pages 31 | 22. Price | |

Copyright © 2019 by **Mineta Transportation Institute** All rights reserved

> Mineta Transportation Institute College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

Tel: (408) 924-7560 Fax: (408) 924-7565 Email: mineta-institute@sjsu.edu

transweb.sjsu.edu

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Women of ITE Subcommittee members contributed their ideas and previous research findings to assist in the identification of resources to consider. The University of South Florida Center for Urban Transportation Research was instrumental in guiding the author's perspective and technical abilities through the opportunity for advancement and the encouragement of many mentors.

The authors thank MTI staff, including Executive Director Karen Philbrick, Ph.D.; Deputy Executive Director Hilary Nixon, Ph.D.; Research Support Assistant Joseph Mercado; Executive Administrative Assistant Jill Carter; and Editing Press for editorial services.

The authors and MTI gratefully acknowledge the vision and inspiration provided by the WTS Foundation and International Boards in the development of this research project.

Cover photo: Photo by Cpl. Yarden Mann, IDF Spokesperson's Film Unit obtained from: https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Flickr_-_Israel_Defense_Forces_-_Airplane_Technician,_March_2010.jpg

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Executive Summary | | |
|---|----|--|
| I. Introduction | 3 | |
| II. Findings | 5 | |
| State of the Practice | 5 | |
| Attracting Women to the Transportation Industry | 7 | |
| Promote and Retain Women in the Transportation Industry | 10 | |
| III. Conclusions and Recommendations | 14 | |
| Endnotes | 18 | |
| Bibliography | 25 | |
| About the Authors | 30 | |
| Peer Review | 31 | |

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Globally, women account for 50% of the working age population, but only generate 37% of global gross domestic product (GDP).¹ While women are making up more of the workforce than they were a few decades ago, some industries continue to struggle with attracting and retaining women. The attraction and retention of women in the transportation industry is an international challenge, even with the increases in women in the labor force and increases in educational attainment by women. The transportation industry includes any occupation, and is not solely limited to, transportation engineering, planning, operations, maintenance, and research.

The objective of this study is to summarize previously conducted research and identify additional research needed to attract, promote, and retain women in the transportation industry. This study will detail major findings and subsequent recommendations, based on the annotated bibliography, of the current atmosphere and the most successful ways to attract and retain young women in the transportation industry in the future. Many times, it is perception that drives women away from the transportation industry, as communal goals are not emphasized in transportation. Men tend to be attracted to agentic goals, whereas women tend to be more attracted to communal goals.^{2,3,4} While this misalignment of goal congruity has been found to be one reason that women tend to avoid or leave the transportation industry, there are ways to highlight the goal congruity processes that contribute to transportation engineering decisions, thus attracting the most talented individuals, regardless of gender. Other literature has pointed to the lack of female role models and mentors as one reason that it is difficult to attract women to the transportation industry.⁵

Many studies have found that attracting women to the transportation industry requires a multifaceted holistic approach. Diversifying the perception of the industry is necessary in order for women to consider careers in the transportation industry. Without showing that women belong in the industry, the attraction of qualified women will be difficult. To diversify the perception of the industry, it is imperative to connect with women early, and not just early in their careers. Connecting with school-aged girls at younger ages and piquing their interests in transportation early can increase the likelihood of attraction to the industry as they move into the career decision phase of their lifecycle. Aside from attracting women early, having a flexible and encouraging culture will help encourage women to join the transportation industry by removing the stigmas associated with it being a male-dominated industry. Attracting a diverse talent pool will require consideration of the motivating factors of the desired talent pool, focusing recruitment efforts on highlighting how organizations can fulfill those motivating factors. Those recruitment efforts should include examples of how both communal and agentic goals can be accomplished to ensure the ability to attract talent, no matter the personal goal congruity.

As the transportation industry improves at attracting women to the industry, additional efforts will need to focus on retention strategies to ensure that those talented women that join the industry remain in the industry. One key to retention is ensuring that organizations remain committed to the goals that were set initially to attract the diverse talent pool necessary to succeed in the transportation industry. Keeping set goals of creating diverse, flexible, welcoming work environments must be deliberate and intentional. It is important to

document and distribute the deliberate diversity efforts throughout the industry, to improve the current transportation industry culture. Mentorship is another important ingredient to the retention of great talent in the industry, with a particular emphasis on same-gender mentor/mentee matches. Successful mentorship is a key element to succession planning within an organization. Additionally, clear steps to advancement and organized succession planning will contribute to the ability to retain a diverse talent pool, as clear paths reduce the likelihood of being overlooked for a promotion, or other discriminatory actions.

I. INTRODUCTION

The proportion of women aged 16 and older in the U.S. workforce has grown steadily from 29.6% in 1950 to 47.5% in 2017, according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics,⁶ and the U.S. Census Bureau (Table S2401). However, the growth in women's share of the labor force has not been homogeneous among occupations. Women account for the vast majority of preschool through middle school teachers, nurses, secretaries, and administrative assistants, and receptionists and information clerks, while men tend to account for large shares of drivers, laborers and freight, stock, and material movers, construction laborers, carpenters, and automotive service technicians and mechanics.⁷ The U.S. Census Bureau American Community Survey began tracking occupation by sex in 2000, at which time women accounted for 12.1% of transportation occupations. As of 2017, women's share of transportation occupation increased to 14.6%. This includes Transportation supervisors and material moving workers, aircraft and traffic control operations, motor vehicle operations, rail, water and other transportation occupation.⁸

Despite the promotion of the Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math (STEM) industry as valuable and desirable,⁹ many engineering firms are facing the impeding loss of retiring leadership without clear transition plans,¹⁰ and the transportation industry as a whole faces a growing shortage of transportation engineers.¹¹ At the same time, the share of the population that is obtaining college degrees has been increasing. According to the American Community Survey data, the share of men that are 25-years-old or older with at least a bachelor's degree increased from 28.4% in 2005 to 31.0% in 2016, while women's educational attainment for the same age group over the same time increased from 26.0% to 38.9%, surpassing that of men.¹²

The combination of the increasing share of women in the workforce, increasing educational attainment, and shortages of transportation engineers with a lack of comprehensive succession planning, all point to the necessity of tailoring the descriptions and perceptions of STEM careers, especially those in the transportation field, to be more gender inclusive. Without a shift in the outreach efforts of the industry, the transportation industry will struggle to evolve and progress over time through the attraction of the most talented selection pool of candidates. Diverse perspectives are incredibly important, especially in science, as they promote innovation and creativity to solve unique challenges associated with the needs of a diverse populace.¹³ As the importance of equity and inclusiveness increases, diverse solutions will require a diverse workforce.

This annotated bibliography will capture the work that has been done related to attracting, promoting, and retaining women in the transportation industry focusing on the resultant findings and recommendations in the literature. After the review of the current state of the practice in terms of female participation in the transportation industry, this annotated bibliography will describe the findings of research related to the attraction, promotion, and retention of females in the transportation industry.

Research has pointed to many factors that affect the attraction of females to non-traditional female industries like STEM, such as the diversity of the perception of the organization,¹⁴ early connections with students,¹⁵ incentives, flexible workplaces, a welcoming culture,¹⁶

and the connection to congruent communal goals.¹⁷ The successful promotion of women in the transportation industry is related to opportunities for advancement and the availability of role models, especially female role models, to encourage and guide women, especially in pivotal points in their careers.¹⁸ Finally, the retention of women in the transportation industry is correlated with the actual culture that was mentioned in the retention of women, clear steps to advancement that were necessary for the promotion of women, and to the availability of ongoing mentorship and succession planning. Much of the previous research that has been completed resulted in recommendations to agencies and to the industry, which will be detailed in the conclusion of this annotated bibliography.

II. FINDINGS

In order to fulfil the objectives of this study—that is, to identify current challenges associated with attracting women to the transportation industry—one must first understand the current state of the practice. This will allow us to explain why women account for less than 15% of the total transportation occupation workforce in 2017.

STATE OF THE PRACTICE

The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA)'s Public Roads Magazine 2010 article on "Women in Transportation" revealed that while the proportion of women in the workforce has consistently increased since the 1950s, women remain underrepresented in engineering and the transportation industry. The article cited that just 10.4% of all civil engineers were women in 2008, and in other transportation and material moving occupations the percentage of full-time employed female workers was only 13%, even though women made up 46.5% of the total labor force. The article cited a lack of equity between sexes at the individual level, possibly related to gaps in education or a lack of role models. At the industry level, this contributes to unnecessary limitations on the talent pool, and deprives the transportation field of a vital source of talent. To combat this issue, leaders in the profession were interviewed, resulting in five recommendations. First, connect with children and young people through school programs and social media to promote science and engineering. Second, build relationships through networking. Third, participate in industry organizations and take leadership positions. Fourth, institutions would benefit from mentoring young professionals. Finally, recognize that workers have lives outside their iobs by ensuring flexibility in scheduling, facilitating telework, and avoiding the necessity for long work hours.¹⁹

As mentioned earlier, the difficulty in attracting women to the transportation industry is not just a national phenomenon. The international transport sector is having similar difficulties, with women accounting for only 17.5% of the workforce in the European Union's urban public transport, and women hold less than 10% of the technical and operational jobs in the EU. Yet, it is extremely important that women are provided with ample opportunity to succeed in transportation careers, to allow them to present their unique perspectives to the issues that are being faced by the modern global transportation system, according to Susan Kurland, former U.S. Assistant Secretary of Aviation and International Affairs.²⁰ The European Union funded a project that began in October of 2016 entitled "Skillful: Skills and competences development of future transportation professionals at all levels," which focused on the necessary skillsets that should be emphasized to ensure candidates entering the transportation sector obtain the necessary training to fulfill the interdisciplinary elements required in the transportation industry.²¹ The goals of the Skillful Project were threefold: (i) to review the skillset and competencies necessary to be paradigm shifters in the transportation sector; (ii) to structure the curricula and training necessary to develop the identified necessary skillset; and (iii) to identify new business roles in education and training to develop EU-wide competence in a sustainable way. Focusing education and training on the necessary skillsets required to be successful in the transportation industry will ensure the best-gualified candidates are prepared to enter the transportation sector.²²

The Institute of Transportation Engineers participated in the National Science Foundation funded STEM Inclusion Study related to minority populations in the STEM field. This STEM Inclusion Study developed,²³ conducted, and analyzed the results of a survey, which was distributed exclusively to the Institute's membership, so all respondents are transportation professionals or transportation students. This study is part of a workplace climate study and voluntary participation resulted in a tailored organizational climate report.²⁴ The study details some of the previous research that has corroborated the obvious lack of diversity that is abundant in STEM fields. Diversity is an important aspect of collaborative work, as it provides a wide array of perspectives, allowing for a holistic view of approaches to problem solving. The STEM Inclusion Study classified respondents by sex, race, LGBTQ status, and disability status in an attempt to gain a better understanding on their perceptions and experiences in the workplace. The survey garnered 2,647 responses (21.5% response rate). However, student responses were filtered out of the analysis resulting in a sample size of 1,888. Statistical significance levels were determined using logistic, ordinary least squares, or ordered logit regression models depending on the dependent variable in question. Women respondents indicated that they feel like they fit in nearly as much as male respondents reported the feeling of belonging. Respondents were asked if they have read or heard insensitive/offensive comments in the workplace. While the average was at least once in the past year, women were statistically significantly (p<.001, two-tailed test) more likely to have heard at least one insensitive comment. Women were also more likely to report hearing a negative comment or joke (p<.01, two-tailed test). When asked about personally being harassed either verbally or in writing, the averages were much closer to never. However, women and people with disabilities were more likely to have been harassed at work. Women worry statistically sigficantly more (p<.01, two-tailed test) that their mistakes are more noticable than the mistakes of others. Similarly, women are statistically more likely (p<.001, two-tailed test) to feel that they have to work harder than their colleagues do in order to be perceived as legitimate. However, the average woman's response falls between "somewhat disagree" and "neutral" when they were asked if they feel like they have to work harder than their male counterparts.

Responses were also categorized by type of employment, differentiating between forprofit, university, other employed, and students. When asked if women must work harder to convince colleagues of competence, the only statistically significant (p<.01) difference from the mean was in the for-profit category, in which 13% agreed with the statement, compared to the overall average of nearly 18% of respondents agreeing with the statement that "women must work harder to convince colleagues of competence". Finally, it was found that nearly 20% of all respondents have witnessed people being treated differently due to gender in the last three years.

Lean In is an initiative that promotes confidence building in small peer groups that meet regularly around the world. With a recognized need to change the trajectory of women's participation in leadership roles, campaigns are launched to promote encouragement, and the benefits of diversity. McKinsey & Company is a global management consulting firm that has studied the importance of women in the workforce for over a decade. A 2017 study on Women in the Workplace evaluated 222 companies human resources (HR) practices and surveys to gain a holistic understanding of the state of the current practice.²⁵ This is a continuation of a series of this study, which was initiated in 2012. The study found that

although 57% of recent college graduates are female, they are underrepresented at every level of employment from entry level to C-suite roles. This study also revealed that women are less likely to regularly interact with or receive advice from managers and senior leaders on career advancement, yet employees who do are more likely to be promoted. This study also revealed the inconsistency in perceptions between men and women in terms of how they see their organization. Men are more likely to see their organization as equitable, while women are more likely to recognize room for improvement. In order to promote gender equality in the workforce, this study recommends making a compelling case for diversity, investing in employee training, giving managers the means to drive change, ensuring the hiring, review, and promotion process is clear and fair, providing flexibility, and focusing on accountability and results is the best way to promote gender equality. Robert Groves, the former Director of the U.S. Census Bureau, appeared in an interview in 2011 discussing the trends of women in the workforce.²⁶ The information presented revealed that the share of women aged 25-years-old or older with a bachelor's degree or higher equaled the share of men in the same age category with the same educational attainment in 2010 for the first time in U.S. history.

Gender equality and, more specifically, gender diversity in the workforce are key to the economic growth required for companies to win the talent war. While the current workforce is combating challenges associated with an aging population and delayed or imbalanced succession planning, it is more important than ever to ensure that the talent pool encompasses all gualified candidates, and women are the largest pools of untapped labor globally. The report Women Matter - Time to Accelerate outlines key points of how growth and performance are at stake if succession plans lack diversity, and the progress of women entering, especially the management and c-suite levels, has been slow. The report continues that the shortage is not due to a lack of ambition or lack of educational attainment, but rather due to persistent barriers in society and corporations, which is more pronounced at the global scale. It is important that companies enable women's participation by creating gender-neutral organizations, and building a pipeline for women to advance their positions, and by engaging men to ensure they are making deliberate decisions. McKinsey continues to indicate that corporate change requires three main keys, persistence, CEO and management commitment, and holistic transformation programs, all of which are very applicable to any type of organization.²⁷

ATTRACTING WOMEN TO THE TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY

Many occupations such as lawyers, physicians, and mail carriers, which have traditionally been male-dominated, have improved at attracting women, transforming their perception from nontraditional for women. The Women's Bureau defines a nontraditional occupation as one where less than 25% of the workforce is women.²⁸ Although the share of women in the engineering profession has increased substantially over the past quarter of a century, engineering and other transportation-related occupations remain male-dominated. *Transportation Workforce Issues and Opportunities* frames the challenges with the industry attracting and retaining a diverse qualified workforce, citing unattractive industry perceptions, and inadequate career development opportunities.²⁹

Some of the most influential women in engineering have suggested that if the postal service can successfully attract women, there is no reason transportation cannot attract women as well.³⁰ When asked for advice for attracting women to their organizations, those eight women indicated that connecting with young people, networking, and participating in professional organizations are the three most important things for women.

Some tips to connect with young people from the Hanson and Murakami 2010 report include sponsoring field trips, educating school counselors about opportunities for women in engineering, and sponsoring summer internships and semester-long apprenticeships for high school and college students. Establishing connections with local universities to encourage students to get hands-on experience while working towards their degree will form mutually beneficial exposure to the transportation workforce. Another suggestion included connecting with the younger generation via social media platforms such as YouTube, Facebook, LinkedIn, Twitter, and Instagram. Finally, recommendations included connecting with young people by working closely with existing programs that encourage students, especially women, to consider engineering, such as the FHWA Summer Transportation Institute Program,³² the Garrett A. Morgan Transportation Technology Education Program, and the National Academy of Science's *Engineer Girl* program.³³

Networking and participating in professional organizations are greatly related, as participating in professional organizations includes activities such as attending meetings and socializing with peer professionals, which is one form of networking.³⁴ Not only being a member of a professional organization, but also volunteering to run for a board or officer position, increases the effectiveness of networking efforts while also increasing the visibility of women as leaders. Simple visibility is inviting to young women who may be deterred or intimidated by the lack of diversity typically presented in the transportation sector.³⁵

The Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) Transportation Ministerial directed a Working Group to launch the Women in Transportation initiative in 2011 to develop and implement actions to advance opportunities for women. The initiative resulted in an APEC Women in Transportation Forum Discussion Group Summary Report, released in December 2012, that highlights education, access to jobs, retention, and leadership as the four pillars necessary to advance the role of women in transportation.³⁶ The discussion includes best practices, challenges, and helpful tools to consider. Best practices in education include outreach programs, mostly focusing on the high school through university-aged population, including the American Public Transportation Association (APTA) Youth Summit, the WTS International workforce development resources,³⁷ and other FHWA and U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) outreach programs. An updated APEC report titled, APEC Women in Transportation Data Framework and Best Practices Initiative: Update of the WIT compendium of best practices was released in 2017.³⁸ The APEC report also indicates the importance of early engagement and exposure to positive role models. The challenges associated with attracting women to transportation early that were identified through this initiative include the perception of a lack of excitement in the industry, the lack of diversity, and the lack of advancement absent educational attainment and licensure. Promoting the range of communal goal options in the transportation industry with the exciting range of specialization alternatives, in addition to providing scholarships to promote women in the transportation industry can help to overcome some of these challenges.³⁹

Focusing on the second pillar—access to jobs—the EU requires quotas and benchmarks for women representation on boards, which the APEC Report identified as a successful approach to increasing women's access to transportation jobs. Additionally, many educational outreach programs were noted by APEC as successful. With challenges associated with the lower number of women applicants, it is vital to market the industry as one with diverse options. Successful marketing requires increased visibility through woman-focused targeted recruiting, and the promotion of women-dominated websites and programming.⁴⁰ The WTS *Transportation You* program for girls aged 13 to 18 has been cited as highly effective at encouraging girls to pursue careers in the transportation industry, providing guidance on professional development and other career planning.⁴¹ There are challenges associated with the attraction of women to the transportation industry, such as unappealing perceptions. The perception of the work–life imbalance associated with careers in the transportation industry contribute to the difficulty of attracting women to the industry.⁴² The lack of flexibility in scheduling was cited as a specific explanatory factor for a lack of retention of women in the transportation industry.⁴³

The third pillar that was evaluated in the APEC Forum was retention. Having welcoming facilities—such as access to gyms, day care, and medical facilities—are found in many successful organizations, such as Delta Airlines.⁴⁴ The government is also successful at attracting women, which is likely to be at least partly attributable to the work–life balance that is associated with public employment, as opposed to private organization employment.⁴⁵ The value of developing a sense of community and support within the organization plays a significant role in retention.⁴⁶ Additionally, focusing efforts and attention on the diversification of the workforce is beneficial to the current workforce and prospective newcomers by displaying the organization's commitment to improvement.⁴⁷ Mentoring, sponsorship, and promoting involvement in professional organizations to foster networking are all instrumental to the retention of women in the transportation industry.⁴⁸ Additionally, clearly defined opportunities for advancement and professional development, along with flexible work schedules attract women for long-term careers.⁴⁹

Leadership is the last pillar mentioned in the APEC Forum on Women in Transportation, which touts networking opportunities, such as affinity groups, where the ideas that are generated are incorporated throughout the organization, creating a sense of pride, ownership, and empowerment. Other leadership programs, mentors and sponsors, and flexible work environments with re-entry strategies are keys to creating an industry that will attract the best leaders.⁵⁰

The Women in Transport International Transport Forum from June 2015 quoted Jessica Jung,⁵¹ the Director of Corporate Social Responsibility of Bombardier Transportation, indicating that, in order to increase the number of women in a male-dominated transportation industry, it is crucial to set specific targets, develop road maps to reach these targets, and implement regular monitoring. Additionally, it is important to have a gender-balanced final interview panel to avoid cognitive bias.

The culture of an organization can also play a significant role in their ability to attract women to the industry. A diverse workforce, and inclusive culture, improves perceptions of an organization, leading to increased diversity of work environments.⁵² Additionally, policies

that restrict the amount of earned time-off that can be taken at once can play a significant role in attracting, and then ultimately retaining women in the industry.⁵³ Analysis suggests that the challenges associated with attracting women to science-related careers such as transportation careers is not a simple situation.⁵⁴ There are many complexities, such as relative talents, general confidence, and social factors, that all combine to produce this challenge, driving home the fact that attracting women to the transportation industry will require more than ensuring access to education, as complex problems must be combated with holistic solutions.⁵⁵

One key aspect to help attract women to the transportation industry is the ability to highlight the congruent communal goals that can be accomplished through transportation work. Studies have shown that women generally prefer to pursue communal goals in their career decisions, while men stereotypically are attracted to pursuing agentic goals.^{56,57,58} Agentic goals are goals of independence and status, while communal goals are typically focused on working with and helping others in the community. While anyone in the transportation industry understands the undeniable connection with communal goals, it is necessary to alter the perception of the industry to match the reality. Importantly, there has been experimental evidence that shows the correlation between women's interest in STEM fields, and that fields ability to fulfill communal goals.⁵⁹ In one experiment, women who learn that a scientist spends the day working with others (as opposed to working alone) exhibited particularly strong increases in their attitudes toward science careers.⁶⁰

Additionally, it has been shown that increasing the awareness of the communal congruity with STEM careers increases general student interest in such careers. Students often do not see the links to communal goals evident in STEM work (e.g., sustainability, food availability, and medical innovations).⁶¹ Therefore, complementing lessons about STEM concepts and skills with specific ways that these knowledge sets can improve the quality of lives or save lives can have great benefits for students.⁶² After lessons that show STEM's communal possibilities, classroom activities that encourage students to make connections between STEM course material and their lives can further increase motivation and learning.⁶³

PROMOTE AND RETAIN WOMEN IN THE TRANSPORTATION INDUSTRY

To effectively increase the diversity of the workforce of the transportation industry, it is important to consider not only the key aspects that are required to attract women to the industry, but also the key aspects that are necessary to promote and retain women once they are in the field. While attracting women to the industry presents unique challenges, overcoming those challenges will be misguided if the same effort and resources are not focused on the retention of women. The Pan-Organizational Summit on the U.S. Science and Engineering Workforce meeting summary reported that turnover problems were related to the absence of adequate mentorship, ambiguity of the promotion process, and other minority neglecting decision making.⁶⁴ To retain talent in an industry, no matter the gender of the individual, clear paths to promotion are necessary as a fundamental cornerstone to ensure talent is retained.⁶⁵ It is important that the goals that were set in the organization to attract women to the industry, are adhered to if retention of women is expected. Goals set to attract the most talented workforce cannot just be stated or detailed in a policy that is

not effectively implemented in the organization. Assurance of adherence to the plan, and accountability if the plan and goals are not adhered to are an imperative component to successfully attracting and retaining women in the transportation industry.⁶⁶

One specific talent retention aspect that is imperative to continue to emphasize is access to role models and mentors, both over a lifespan and during the immediate time when a person is making a career choice. Research has alluded that this is especially important for women and cultural minorities who chose nontraditional careers, such as women in the transportation industry.⁶⁷ Female role models are also particularly important to retaining women once they enter STEM; seeing the successes of other women in STEM can help prevent the threatening effects of stereotypes that shed doubt on women's competencies in these fields.⁶⁸

Empirical research data suggests that any mentor, no matter the gender, can effectively attract women to the engineering field, while female role models are more effective in the retention of women in the field.⁶⁹ Other research reinforces the notion that women who have female mentors and role models are more likely to remain in the engineering industry. For example, a multiyear longitudinal study that followed 150 incoming female students majoring in engineering at a public university, which is unique for this topic, showed that women who received mentoring and guidance from other successful women in the industry were more likely to remain in engineering-related positions upon graduation and throughout their careers. Women that received no mentoring (the control group), and women paired with male mentors both showed steep declines in feelings of belonging in engineering from the beginning to the end of the first year. Alternatively, women with female mentors reported more stable feeling of belonging. The visible success of women mentors and women peers contributes to the likelihood of retention, due to the confirmation of possible success in a male-dominated industry. Additionally, female mentors also affected the degree to which anxiety of female engineering students was offset by confidence that they possessed the skills necessary to overcome academic difficulties. The study concluded that retention of female engineers will increase if they are mentored by another successful female engineer, especially in the first year, when self-doubt is greater. This increased retention is also related to the confirmation of the ability to satisfy communal goal congruity through analytical approaches of transportation engineering.⁷⁰ Similarly, results from three separate studies concluded that women's own self-concept benefited from contact with female experts, even though negative stereotypes remain in STEM fields.⁷¹

Understanding the motivations of the talent pool in the transportation industry will allow for strategically focused retention efforts. Historically, many women have pursued communal goals, as opposed to men who are more attracted to agentic goals in a general sense. This general preference by gender is evident through the most common occupations for women and men. The top occupations for women in 2015, according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, are elementary and middles school teachers, registered nurses, and secretaries, all of which are aligned with communal goal orientation. Alternatively, the top occupations for men are sales workers, truck drivers, managers, supervisors, and laborers, which are more aligned with agentic goal congruity.⁷² Communal goals focus on helping people and solving problems that cause challenges that hinder others, while agentic goals are more internally focus on prestige and status. That is not to say that all men focus on

agentic goals and all women are communally motivated, however it is important to know what motivates unique workforces.⁷³ When the personal motivations of the workforce are understood, it is then possible to focus the type of tasks that fulfill those motives, resulting in a more satisfied team of highly motivated individuals. It is important that management does not assume to understand motives without first actually asking individuals of their personal motives. It is also important to remember that not all people will necessarily know what actually motivates them. For those that are unsure of their driving motivators, a range of tasks that fill both communal and agentic goals to find what their true motives are. It is also important to understand that motives can shift over time, highlighting the importance of scheduled surveys or interviews of employees to gage their satisfaction with their duties performed. More importantly, if responses to those regularly scheduled surveys or interviews are not favorable, it is imperative that agencies make changes or adjustments to show that they care about, and are listening to, their employees.⁷⁴

Another key factor in the attrition of women from the industry is parenthood. About 24% of mothers of preschoolers are opting out of the production, transportation, and material moving labor force (as of 2009).⁷⁵ This loss of new mothers in the transportation industry is worrisome given the challenges that the industry faces in attracting women in the first place. This opt out of the labor force is likely at least partly attributable to cultures that are not family friendly, and demand levels that are not favorable for working mothers.⁷⁶ Flexible schedules, generous maternity leave policies, opportunities for advancement, and help with childcare are all successful practices proven to retain women in the workforce after childbirth.⁷⁷

The retention of women in science and engineering is not a new challenge, as the National Academy of Sciences' Committee on Women in Science Engineering published a report in 1994, based on a January 1993 conference titled "Women Scientists and Engineers Employed in the Industry: Why So Few?", outlining contributing factors to their departure from the industry.⁷⁸ Some key points from the report include the critical issue of career and personal life balance, which can be especially challenging for women with children who are highly motivated by achievement and recognition. Women at the conference shared their strategies to planning pregnancies around promotions to avoid being overlooked for advancement considerations. How a company addresses dependent care also factors into retention rates of women scientists and engineers. The Committee on Women in Science and Engineering continued with a review of some initiatives that have proven successful at attracting and retaining women, highlighting how diversity efforts have improved both male and female recruits. Effective policies should foster an inviting culture that understands women's issues, and require participation at all levels of the organization. A reoccurring theme throughout the conference was the importance of CEO commitment and deliberate gender diversity in hiring practices. Without well-rounded recruitment initiatives, organizations will not have exposure to the entire population of talent. Retention rates can also be improved through mentorship opportunities, as many women value the ability to influence the career choices of other girls and young women.

The National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine, Transit Cooperative Research Program (TCRP) has funded a synthesis topic to investigate the topic of attracting and retaining women in the transit workforce, with a tentative scope that includes conceptualization of elevating the importance of women in the workforce, implementation

initiatives and strategies, costs benefit analyses, and other considerations. The work is scheduled to begin in October 2018.

Future research considerations may include a specific focus on successful balancing practices both for women and organizations, including actual examples of policies that can be implemented to encourage healthy work–life balance. Developing training related to cultural change would be beneficial guidance for all employment levels to ensure diversity inclusion is prevalent organization wide.

III. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The proportion of women aged 16 and older in the U.S. workforce has grown steadily from 29.6% in 1950 to 47.5% in 2017, and women's educational attainment has surpassed that of men according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics,⁷⁹ and the U.S. Census Bureau (Table S2401 and Table S1501). However, even with the increases in women's participation in the workforce, many STEM fields are struggling to attract women to the industry. Additionally, many engineering firms are facing the impending loss of retiring leadership without clear transition plans.⁸⁰ The transportation industry as a whole faces a growing shortage of transportation engineers,⁸¹ highlighting the importance for the industry to focus on deliberate diversity inclusion in outreach and recruitment efforts.

The culture and the perception of the culture of an organization is the most important consideration when focusing on attracting a diverse talented workforce.⁸² Culture is not a policy, a sign on the wall, or an acceptance letter signed when hired. Culture is the implementation of the policies that are in place, with deliberate focus on the consequences of each action and decision. Many times organizational leaders may not be aware of the true culture of the organization, unless anonymous surveys are conducted to determine the feelings of the workforce.⁸³ Additionally, the perception of an organization is important in recruitment, so organizations should intentionally support diversity efforts, and share those efforts through different outreach opportunities, such as annual association meetings, social media, magazine articles, etc.

Successful practices that have been found to attract women to the transportation industry include connecting with young people, networking, and encouraging professional organization participation, especially at leadership positions. Attraction is also dependent on education, access to jobs, retention strategies within the organization, and opportunities to advance to leadership positions.⁸⁴ Organizations have successfully attracted more women by first ensuring gender-balanced final interview panels are responsible for all new hiring, with recruitment materials that establish specific targets, provide guidance to reach those set targets, and inform how regular monitoring benefits the succession plan to leadership. Organizations must also have an inviting harassment-free culture, with implemented policies that allow for taking earned time off, and mentorship with opportunities to build confidence and skills. Additionally, it is important to highlight how many planners, engineers, and policy makers are fulfilling communal goals in their transportation careers.⁸⁵

The promotion and retention of women in the transportation industry is multifaceted and requires holistic approaches and dedication from all levels of employment. One key aspect to retention of women includes the development and implementation of a clear succession plan, and the steps and accomplishments necessary to follow that succession plan to leadership positions within the organization. Another retention strategy includes promoting and providing access to role models and mentors for junior faculty, and access to mentoring opportunities for senior faculty. Mentoring at all levels is mutually beneficial as it helps to prevent threatening effects of stereotypes that shed doubt on the competencies of women in the transportation field. Knowing specific workforce and personal goals of employees will ensure that an organization can provide goal congruent opportunities, which will increase retention through job satisfaction.⁸⁶ Family friendly policies, the ability to take all the time

off that one has earned, and the opportunity to return to the workforce after childbirth are two factors that could reduce the loss of new mother workers, thus increasing retention rates of more diverse talent pool. Somewhat related, dependent care policies also affect retention rates of women scientists.⁸⁷ Further research that focuses on specific policies and implementation plans for organizations to use as framework to improve their organizational culture to promote deliberately diverse recruitment and retention efforts. Training development in this area would also be beneficial for the entire transportation industry.

Effective change in organizational culture is dependent upon the holistic development, implementation, and enforcement of diversity promoting policies. To summarize the attraction and retention recommendations that were discovered through this annotated bibliography the following 11 recommendations are highlighted.

Attracting women to the transportation industry can be improved with the following:

- 1. Connect with young people to promote the industry as a desirable career option. Mentor, and provide opportunities for others in the industry to mentor as well. The benefits of sharing success stories and providing advice, guidance, and prompt answers to mentees cannot be overstated.
- 2. Encourage participation in professional organizations, especially leadership participation and networking event attendance. Furthermore, encouraging participation in extracurricular activities will provide the opportunity to improve confidence and increase their visibility in the industry. That visibility and representation is mutually beneficial, and necessary for advancement opportunities.
- 3. Promote educational and career opportunities, focusing especially on minority recruitment efforts. Encourage the support of minority-focused scholarships, internships, and awards to increase the recruiting talent pool so that minorities are afforded opportunities that are not otherwise possible. This educational promotion may require changes in educational tools or traditional information delivery methods in order to ensure that there is a focus on the skills that are needed in the industry. Specifically soft skills, such as public speaking, could be incorporated into curricula without jeopardizing accreditation requirements.
- 4. Create a gender-balanced panel for all final decisions pertaining to hiring. Presenting a gender-balanced hiring panel is one way to show immediate dedication to diversity, while also ensuring that the hiring decisions are not biased.
- 5. Intentionally promote desired perceptions. Deliberately advertising an organization's support of diversity through as many outreach opportunities as possible, including professional organizations and associations meetings, social media, newsletters, and magazine articles, will promote the perception that is desired rather than allowing outsiders to define an organization's public perception.

6. Promote the communal goal congruity of transportation industry careers. Many engineers, planners, policy makers, researchers, and scientists are fulfilling personal communal goals throughout their careers.

Promoting and retaining women in the transportation industry can be improved with the following:

- 7. Develop and adhere to a defined succession plan to ensure there is no bias in promotion decisions. With clear promotion guidance that is inclusive of specific requirements for advancement, there is no room for unintentional bias in the promotion process within an organization. Not seeing a path to advancement is a common reason provided by women who left the STEM industry.
- 8. Invest in best practices syntheses that collect and compare transportation organization's policies and implementation successes to develop and promote a toolbox of applicable guidance.
- 9. Conduct, or participate in recurring surveys to understand the effectiveness of the cultural diversity efforts in place. Sharing practices that were ineffective is just as important as sharing practices that were effective.
- 10. Ensure policies allow employees to take earned time off, without fear of retribution or loss of work availability upon return. Policies that are family friendly and allow for time off after childbirth and other dependent care considerate policies will all contribute to retention rates of qualified talent.
- 11. Finally, change must occur at every level of an organization to be effective. Buy-in must occur from the CEO to the front line to ensure effective cultural improvement.

While the opportunities and advancement opportunities for women have improved, there are still possible improvements. This annotated bibliography and subsequent recommendations should serve as a framework of considerations that individuals and organizations in the transportation industry may want to consider to solve the challenges of loss of talent due to retirement accompanied by a lack of active succession planning in the industry. In order to improve the talent pool, these recommendations may assist in the improvement of the environment and the perceptions of the industry as a whole, organizations, and women transportation professionals.

Further research that focuses on the specific development and implementation of a holistic diversity plan would be beneficial to the industry to serve as a framework with actionable specific improvements. Training will likely also have to be developed to ensure a consistent message of the transportation industry is shared and promoted.

This annotated bibliography used a broad-based approach to identify challenges in attracting and retaining women in the transportation industry. There is great value in examining this issue from many specific narrowed approaches in future research. For example, the work environments vary significantly from the private sector to the public

sector, or from a transit versus highway construction or design firm. With the variance in incentives and constraints that allow one to pursue communal goals in each of these transportation segments, there is great value in focusing future research on specific areas of the transportation industry. Additionally, focusing on the skillsets required to be successful in the transportation industry rather than taking an occupational approach would also be valuable future research for consideration. As the European Skillful Project mentioned earlier focusing education and training curricula on the skills necessary to succeed, would produce an industrywide benefit.⁸⁸

ENDNOTES

- 1. McKinsey & Company. "Women in the Workplace." Accessed August 2018, https:// womenintheworkplace.com.
- 2. J.M. Allen et al. "To Grab and To Hold: Cultivating communal Goals to Overcome Cultural and Structural Barriers in First Generation College Students' Science Interest." *Trans Issues Psychol Sci.* 1, no. 4. (2015): 331–341. doi: [10.1037/tps0000046]
- 3. Christopher Cavazos. "The Woman Scientist: Communal Goals as Predictors for Women's Interest in STEM." University of Colorado, Boulder. 2014 accessed at: https://scholar.colorado.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1061&context=honr_theses
- 4. J.M. Allen et al. "To Grab and To Hold: Cultivating communal Goals to Overcome Cultural and Structural Barriers in First Generation College Students' Science Interest." *Trans Issues Psychol Sci.* 1, no. 4. (2015): 331–341. doi: [10.1037/tps0000046]
- 5. T.C. Dennehy and N. Dasgupta, "Female Mentors Increase Women Engineers' Success. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences," *Proceedings of the National Academic of Sciences* (2017) DOI: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1613117114.
- 6. Mitra Toosi, "A Century of Change: The U.S. Labor Force, 1950–2050," *Bureau of Labor Statistics Monthly Labor Review* (2002)
- U.S. Department of Labor. Women's Bureau. April 2015. Most Common Occupations for Women. 2015 Current Population Survey. https://www.dol.gov/wb/stats/most_ common_occupations_for_women.htm
- U.S. Census Bureau. American Factfinder. Table S2401: Occupation by Sex for the Civilian Employed Population 16 Years and Over 2017 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates, Tables QT-P27 and S2401, 2017. Accessed at: https://factfinder. census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS_17_1YR_ S2401&prodType=table
- 9. D.Langdon et al., "ESA Issue Brief #03-11," Office of the Chief Economist. U.S. Department of Commerce. Economics and Statistics Administration, accessed November 21, 2018, https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED522129.pdf
- 10. Duane Pinnix. "Lead Your Engineering Firm into the Future: Two Ways to Handle Succession Planning: Prepare the Next Generation for Leadership and Attract Talented Millennials." *Consulting Specifying Engineer*, no. 11 (2015): 48. Accessed September 12, 2018. https://www.csemag.com/magazine/
- 11. Asha Agrawal and Jennifer Dill, "To Be a Transportation Engineer or Not? How Civil Engineering Students Choose a Specialization," *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* (2008):76–84.

- U.S. Census Bureau. American Factfinder. Table S1501: Educational Attainment 2016 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates. https://factfinder.census. gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS_16_1YR_ S1501&prodType=table
- 13. Jane G. Stout, Victoria A Grunberg, and Tiffany A Ito, "Gender Roles and Stereotypes about Science Careers Help Explain Women and Men's Science Pursuits." vol. 75, Issue 9–10, (November, 2016): 490–499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-016-0647-5.
- 14. Magdalena Olczak-Rancitelli, International Transport Forum. 2015 Annual Summit. Leipzig, Germany. Accessed September 2018. http://2015.internationaltransportforum. org/women-transport
- 15. Susan Hanson and Elaine Murakami, 2010. Women in Transportation. FHWA-HRT-10-003. Issue No: Vol. 73 No. 5. Accessed at: https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/ publications/publicroads/10mar/02.cfm
- 16. John Timmer, "Women Go into Science Careers More Often in Countries without Gender Equality." (February 2018). *ArsTechnica*. https://arstechnica.com/science/2018/02/globally-women-tend-to-avoid-science-careers-even-when-theyre-good-at-it/
- 17. Kathryn L. Boucher et al., "Can I Work with and Help Others in This Field? How Communal Goals Influence Interest and Participation in STEM Fields." *Frontiers in Psychology Journal* 8, (May 2017). doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00901 https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5450619
- 18. Agrawal and Dill. "Transportation Research Record."
- 19. Hanson and Murakami, "Women in Transportation."
- 20. Olczak-Rancitelli, "International Transport Forum."
- 21. Skillful. Skills and Competences Development of Future Transportation Professionals at All Levels. February, 2017. European Union Grant Agreement No. 723989.
- 22. Ibid.
- 23. Erin Cech and Tom Waidzunas, "STEM Inclusion Study." National Science Foundation. Accessed August 2018. http://www.steminclusion.com
- 24. Ibid.
- 25. McKinsey and Company, "Women in the Workplace." 2017. Lean In. Accessed August 2018, https://womenintheworkplace.com/
- 26. Robert Groves, "Washington Journal": Women in the Workforce." *C-SPAN*. August 12, 2011. Accessed at: https://www.census.gov/newsroom/cspan/women_workforce.html

- 27. Ibid.
- 28. U.S. Department of Labor, 2014.
- 29. Joseph S. Toole, *Transportation Workforce Issues and Opportunities*. Federal Highway Administration. U.S. Department of Transportation. National Academies of Sciences. 2002. Accessed September 27, 2018 at https://www.nap.edu/download/10727#
- 30. Hanson and Murakami, "Women in Transportation."
- 31. FHWA. 2018. U.S. Department of Transportation Summer Transportation Internship Program for Diverse Groups (STIPDG) Accessed: https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/ education/stipdg.cfm
- 32. FHWA. 2016. U.S. Department of Transportation Center for Transportation Workforce Development National Summer Transportation Institute Program. Accessed: https:// www.fhwa.dot.gov/innovativeprograms/centers/workforce_dev/national_summer_ program.aspx
- 33. Hanson and Murakami, "Women in Transportation."
- 34. Alaina G. Levine, "Networking: How to make the most of professional societies." Naturejobs. November 5, 2015. http://blogs.nature.com/naturejobs/2015/11/05/ networking-how-to-make-the-most-of-professional-societies/
- 35. Peter Turnbull, "Promoting the Employment Women in the Transport Sector–Obstacles and Policy Options." International Labour Office Geneva. December 2013. Accessed: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_dialogue/---sector/documents/ publication/wcms_234880.pdf
- 36. U.S. Department of Transportation, "APEC Women in Transportation Forum Discussion Group Summary." December 14, 2012. Accessed: https://www.transportation.gov/ sites/dot.gov/files/docs/APEC%20Women%20in%20Transportation%20Forum_ Discussion%20Group%20Summary_14Dec2012_FINAL.pdf
- 37. WTS, "TransportationYou", 2011.
- 38. United States Agency for International Development, "APEC Women in Transportation Data Framework and Best Practices Initiative: Update of the WIT compendium of best practices." 2017. Accessed: https://nathaninc.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/2017-APEC-WiT-Best-Practices-Compendium-Update.pdf
- 39. Ibid.
- 40. Ibid.
- 41. U.S. Department of Transportation, "APEC Women in Transportation Forum Discussion Group Summary."

- 42. Laura Sabattini and Nancy M. Carter, "Expanding Work–life Perspectives: Talent Management in Asia." (May 16, 2012). http://www.catalyst.org/knowledge/expanding-work-life-perspectives-talent-management-asia
- 43. Ibid.
- 44. APEC Women in Transportation Forum Discussion Group Summary. U.S. Department of Transportation. December 14, 2012. Accessed: https://www.transportation.gov/ sites/dot.gov/files/docs/APEC%20Women%20in%20Transportation%20Forum_ Discussion%20Group%20Summary_14Dec2012_FINAL.pdf
- 45. Ibid.
- 46. Ibid.
- 47. Ibid.
- 48. Ibid.
- 49. Ibid.
- 50. Ibid.
- 51. Olczak-Rancitelli, "International Transport Forum."
- 52. JanetA. Boekhorst, "The Role of Authentic Leadership in Fostering Workplace Inclusion: A Social Information Processing Perspective." *Human Resource Management* 54, Issue 2 (November 18, 2014). https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21669
- 53. John Timmer, "Women Go into Science Careers More Often in Countries without Gender Equality." (February 2018). *ArsTechnica*. https://arstechnica.com/science/2018/02/globally-women-tend-to-avoid-science-careers-even-when-theyre-good-at-it/
- 54. Ibid.
- 55. Ibid.
- 56. Lesly R. Krome, "Attracting Women to STEM Programs: The Influences of Goal-Orientations and the Use of Gendered Wording in Recruitment Materials." Kansas State University. 2016. http://krex.k-state.edu/dspace/handle/2097/32487
- 57. Cavazos, "The Woman Scientist."
- J.M. Allen et al. "To Grab and To Hold: Cultivating Communal Goals to Overcome Cultural and Structural Barriers in First Generation College Students' Science Interest." *Trans Issues Psychol Sci.* 1, no. 4. (2015): 331–341. doi: [10.1037/tps0000046]

- Kathryn L. Boucher, Fuesting, Melissa A., Diekman, Amanda B., and Murphy, Mary C. "Can I Work with and Help Others in This Field? How Communal Goals Influence Interest and Participation in STEM Fields." *Frontiers in Psychology Journal* 8, (May 2017). doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00901 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC5450619
- A.B. Diekman, Clark E.K., Johnston A.M., E.R. Brown, M. Steinberg. "Malleability in Communal Goals and Beliefs Influences Attraction to Stem Careers: Evidence for a Goal Congruity Perspective." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. (Nov. 2011): 902-918. doi: 10.1037/a0025199.
- 61. Cunningham C. M., Lachapelle C., Lindgren-Streicher A.. "Assessing elementary school students' conceptions of engineering and technology." *Proceedings of the 2005 American Society of Engineering Education Conference & Exposition* (2005); National Academy of Engineering. "Changing the Conversation: Messages for Improving Public Understanding of Engineering." Washington, DC: (2008). National Academies Press; and Klotz, L., G. Potvin, A. Godwin, J. Cribbs, Z. Hazari, and N. Barclay. "Sustainability as a Route to Broadening Participation in Engineering." *J. Eng. Educ.* 103, (2014). https://dx.doi.org/10.1002%2Fjee.20034.
- e.g., Freeman S., Eddy S. L., McDonough M., Smith M. K., Okoroafor N., Jordt H., et al. (2014). Active Learning Increases Student Performance in Science, Engineering, and Mathematics. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, 8410–8415. 10.1073/pnas.1319030111 https://dx.doi.org/10.1073%2Fpnas.1319030111.
- 63. e.g., C.S. Hulleman and J.M. Harackiewicz. "Promoting Interest and Performance in High School Science Classes." *Science* 326, (2009): 1410–1412. https://dx.doi. org/10.1126%2Fscience.1177067.
- 64. National Academy of Sciences National Academy of Engineering, and Institute of Medicine. "Pan-Organizational Summit on the U.S. Science and Engineering Workforce: Meeting Summary." Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. (2003). https://doi.org/10.17226/10727.
- 65. Women in Transportation Seminar (WTS) 2013. Women in Transport: Good for Business. https://www.wtsinternational.org/women-in-transport-good-for-business/
- 66. Ibid.
- 67. Agrawal and Dill. "Transportation Research Record."
- Benjamin J. Drury, John Oliver Sly, and Sapna Cheryan. "When do female role models benefit women? The importance of differentiating recruitment from retention in STEM." *An International Journal for the Advancement of Psychological Theory*. 22, no. 4. (2011): 265–269. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080%2F1047840X.2011.620935.

69. Ibid.

- 70. T.C. Dennehy, and N. Dasgupta, "Female Mentors Increase Women Engineers' Success. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences," *Proceedings of the National Academic of Sciences* (2017) DOI: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1613117114.
- Stout J.G., N. Dasgupta, M. Hunsinger, and M.A. McManus, "STEMing the tide: using ingroup experts to inoculate women's self-concept in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM)." *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol*, no. 100 (2011): 255–270. https:// dx.doi.org/10.1037%2Fa0021385.
- 72. U.S. Department of Labor. Women's Bureau. April 2015. Most Common Occupations for Women. 2015 Current Population Survey. https://www.dol.gov/wb/stats/most_common_occupations_for_women.htm
- 73. Diekman et al. "Malleability in Communal Goals and Beliefs Influences Attraction to Stem Careers."
- 74. "Women in the Workplace," McKinsey & Company.
- 75. U.S. Census Bureau. Major Occupation Groups by Percentage of Mothers of Preschoolers Opting Out of the Labor Force: 2009. https://www.census.gov/newsroom/pdf/women_workforce_slides_part8.pdf
- 76. Ibid.
- 77. Zimmerman, Kaytie. Forbes. Eight Ways to Retain Female Talent After Maternity Leave. June 2017. Accessed: https://www.forbes.com/sites/kaytiezimmerman/2017/06/18/8ways-to-retain-female-talent-after-maternity-leave/#1671067a7f2d
- National Research Council. "Women Scientists and Engineers Employed in Industry: Why So Few?" Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. (1994). https://doi. org/10.17226/2264.
- 79. Toosi, "A century of change."
- 80. Pinnix, "Lead your engineering firm into the future: two ways to handle succession planning."
- 81. Agrawal, Asha and Jennifer Dill. "Transportation Research Record." *Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, no. 2046 (2008):76–84. doi: 10.3141/2046-10.
- Diekman, A.B., Clark E.K., Johnston A.M., E.R. Brown, M. Steinberg. "Malleability in Communal Goals and Beliefs Influences Attraction to Stem Careers: Evidence for a Goal Congruity Perspective." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. (Nov. 2011): 902-918. doi: 10.1037/a0025199.
- 83. Cech and Waidzunas, "STEM Inclusion Study."

84. Hanson and Murakami, "Women in Transportation."

85. Ibid.

- 86. Stout, Grunberg, and Ito, "Gender Roles and Stereotypes about Science Careers Help Explain Women and Men's Science Pursuits."
- 87. Kaytie Zimmerman, Forbes. "Eight Ways to Retain Female Talent After Maternity Leave." June 2017. Accessed: https://www.forbes.com/sites/kaytiezimmerman/2017/06/18/8-ways-to-retain-female-talent-after-maternity-leave/#1671067a7f2d
- 88. Skillful. Skills and Competences Development of Future Transportation Professionals at All Levels. February, 2017. European Union Grant Agreement No. 723989.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Agrawal, Asha and Jennifer Dill. "Transportation Research Record." *Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, no. 2046 (2008):76–84. doi: 10.3141/2046-10
- Allen, Jill M., Muragishi, Gregg A., Smith, Jessi L., Thoman, Dustin B. and Brown, Elizabeth R. "To Grab and To Hold: Cultivating Communal Goals to Overcome cultural and structural barriers in first generation college students' science Interest." *Translational Issues in Psychological Science*. 4, no 1 (December 2015): 331–341. doi: [10.1037/tps0000046]
- American Public Transportation Association 2017 Youth Summit. June 19–23, 2017. https://www.apta.com/resources/workforce/youth-summit/Pages/default.aspx
- APEC Women in Transportation Data Framework and Best Practices Initiative: Update of the WIT compendium of best practices. United States Agency for International Development. 2017. Accessed: https://nathaninc.com/wp-content/ uploads/2015/12/2017-APEC-WiT-Best-Practices-Compendium-Update.pdf
- APEC Women in Transportation Forum Discussion Group Summary. U.S. Department of Transportation. December 14, 2012. Accessed: https://www.transportation.gov/ sites/dot.gov/files/docs/APEC%20Women%20in%20Transportation%20Forum_ Discussion%20Group%20Summary_14Dec2012_FINAL.pdf
- Boekhorst, Janet A. "The Role of Authentic Leadership in Fostering Workplace Inclusion: A Social Information Processing Perspective." *Human Resource Management* 54, Issue 2 (November 18, 2014). https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21669
- Boucher, Kathryn L., Fuesting, Melissa A., Diekman, Amanda B., and Murphy, Mary C.
 "Can I Work with and Help Others in This Field? How Communal Goals Influence Interest and Participation in STEM Fields." *Frontiers in Psychology Journal* 8, (May 2017). doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00901 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC5450619
- Cavazos, Christopher. "The Woman Scientist: Communal Goals as Predictors for Women's Interest in STEM." University of Colorado, Boulder (2014) https:// scholar.colorado.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1061&context=honr_theses
- Cech, Erin, and Waidzunas, Tom. "STEM Inclusion Study." National Science Foundation. Accessed August 2018. http://www.steminclusion.com
- Creating Equitable STEM Workplaces by Addressing Unconscious Bias. Association for Women in Science Factsheet. https://www.awis.org/wp-content/uploads/AWIS-Factsheet-Unconscious-Bias.pdf
- Cunningham C. M., Lachapelle C., Lindgren-Streicher A.. "Assessing Elementary School Students' Conceptions of Engineering and Technology." *Proceedings of the 2005 American Society of Engineering Education Conference & Exposition* (2005).

- Dennehy, Tara C., Nilanjana, Dasgupta. "Female Mentors Increase Women Engineers' Success." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1613117114.
- Dennehy, Tara C., Nilanjana, Dasgupta., "Female Peer Mentors Early in College Increase Women's Positive Academic Experiences and Retention in Engineering." Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences, University of Massachusetts. 2016. http://www.pnas.org/content/pnas/114/23/5964.full.pdf
- Diekman, A.B., Clark E.K., Johnston A.M., E.R. Brown, M. Steinberg. "Malleability in Communal Goals and Beliefs Influences Attraction to Stem Careers: Evidence for a Goal Congruity Perspective." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. (Nov. 2011): 902-918. doi: 10.1037/a0025199.
- Drury, Benjamin J., John Oliver Sly, and Sapna Cheryan. "When Do Female Role Models Benefit Women? The Importance of Differentiating Recruitment from Retention in STEM." An International Journal for the Advancement of Psychological Theory. 22, no. 4. (2011): 265–269. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080%2F104784 0X.2011.620935.
- FHWA. 2016. U.S. Department of Transportation Center for Transportation Workforce Development National Summer Transportation Institute Program. Accessed: https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/innovativeprograms/centers/workforce_dev/national_ summer_program.aspx
- FHWA. 2018. U.S. Department of Transportation Summer Transportation Internship Program for Diverse Groups (STIPDG) Accessed: https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/ education/stipdg.cfm
- FHWA. K-12 Education and Training programs. Accessed: https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/ innovativeprograms/centers/workforce_dev/k_12.aspx
- Freeman S., Eddy S. L., McDonough M., Smith M. K., Okoroafor N., Jordt H., et al. (2014). Active Learning Increases Student Performance in Science, Engineering, and Mathematics. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, 8410–8415. 10.1073/ pnas.1319030111 https://dx.doi.org/10.1073%2Fpnas.1319030111.
- Groves, Robert. "Washington Journal": Women in the Workforce." *C-SPAN*. August 12, 2011. Accessed at: https://www.census.gov/newsroom/cspan/women_workforce. html
- Hanson, Susan, and Murakami, Elaine. 2010. Women in Transportation. FHWA-HRT-10-003. Issue No: Vol. 73 No. 5. Accessed at: https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/ publications/publicroads/10mar/02.cfm
- Hulleman, C. S. and J.M. Harackiewicz. "Promoting interest and Performance in High School Science Classes." *Science* 326, (2009): 1410–1412. https://dx.doi. org/10.1126%2Fscience.1177067.

- Klotz, L., G. Potvin, A. Godwin, J. Cribbs, Z. Hazari, and N. Barclay. "Sustainability as a Route to Broadening Participation in Engineering." *J. Eng. Educ.* 103, (2014). https://dx.doi.org/10.1002%2Fjee.20034.
- Krome, Lesly R. "Attracting Women to STEM Programs: The Influences of Goal-Orientations and the Use of Gendered Wording in Recruitment Materials." Kansas State University. 2016. http://krex.k-state.edu/dspace/handle/2097/32487
- Langdon, David and George McKittrick, David Beede, Beethika Khan, and Mark Doms. "STEM: Good Jobs Now and for the Future." *U.S. Department of Commerce. Economics and Statistics Administration*. July 2011. ESA Issue Brief #03-11. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED522129.pdf
- Levine, Alaina G. Networking: How to make the most of professional societies. Naturejobs. November 5, 2015. http://blogs.nature.com/naturejobs/2015/11/05/ networking-how-to-make-the-most-of-professional-societies/
- McKinsey and Company. Women in the Workplace. 2017. Lean In. Accessed August 2018, https://womenintheworkplace.com/
- McKinsey and Company. Women Matter. Time to Accelerate. October 2017. Accessed at: https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/featured%20insights/women%20 matter/women%20matter%20ten%20years%20of%20insights%20on%20the%20 importance%20of%20gender%20diversity/women-matter-time-to-accelerate-tenyears-of-insights-into-gender-diversity.ashx
- National Academy of Engineering. "Changing the Conversation: Messages for Improving Public Understanding of Engineering." Washington, DC: (2008). National Academies Press.
- National Academy of Engineering. "Engineer Girl." https://www.engineergirl.org/
- National Academy of Sciences National Academy of Engineering, and Institute of Medicine. "Pan-Organizational Summit on the U.S. Science and Engineering Workforce: Meeting Summary." Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. (2003). https://doi.org/10.17226/10727.
- National Research Council. "Women Scientists and Engineers Employed in Industry: Why So Few?" Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. (1994). https:// doi.org/10.17226/2264.
- Olczak-Rancitelli, Magdalena. International Transport Forum. 2015 Annual Summit. Leipzig, Germany. Accessed September 2018. http://2015. internationaltransportforum.org/women-transport

- Pinnix, Duane. "Lead Your Engineering Firm into the Future: Two Ways to Handle Succession Planning: Prepare the Next Generation for Leadership and Attract Talented Millennials." *Consulting Specifying Engineer*, no. 11 (2015): 48. Accessed September 12, 2018. https://www.csemag.com/magazine/
- Sabattini, Laura, PhD., and Carter, Nancy M. Knowledge Center. "Expanding Work–life Perspectives: Talent Management in Asia." (May 16, 2012). http://www.catalyst. org/knowledge/expanding-work-life-perspectives-talent-management-asia
- Skillful. Skills and Competences Development of Future Transportation Professionals at All Levels. February, 2017. European Union Grant Agreement No. 723989.
- Stout J. G., Dasgupta N., Hunsinger M., McManus M. A. "STEMing the tide: using ingroup experts to inoculate women's self-concept in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM)." *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol*, no. 100 (2011): 255–270. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037%2Fa0021385.
- Stout, Jane G., Grunberg, Victoria A., and Ito, Tiffany A.. "Gender Roles and Stereotypes about Science Careers Help Explain Women and Men's Science Pursuits." vol. 75, Issue 9–10, (November, 2016): 490–499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-016-0647-5.
- Timmer, John. "Women Go into Science Careers More Often in Countries without Gender Equality." (February 2018). *ArsTechnica*. https://arstechnica.com/ science/2018/02/globally-women-tend-to-avoid-science-careers-even-whentheyre-good-at-it/
- Toole, Joseph S. *Transportation Workforce Issues and Opportunities.* Federal Highway Administration. U.S. Department of Transportation. National Academies of Sciences. 2002. Accessed September 27, 2018 at https://www.nap.edu/ download/10727#
- Toossi, Mitra. "A Century of Change: the U.S. Labor Force, 1950–2050." *Bureau of Labor Statistics Monthly Labor Review*. (May 2002) Accessed September 2018 at: https://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2002/05/art2full.pdf
- Turnbull, Peter. "Promoting the Employment Women in the Transport Sector–obstacles and Policy Options." International Labour Office Geneva. December 2013. Accessed: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_dialogue/---sector/ documents/publication/wcms_234880.pdf
- U.S. Census Bureau. American Factfinder. Table S1501: Educational Attainment 2016 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates. https://factfinder.census. gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS_16_1YR_ S1501&prodType=table

- U.S. Census Bureau. American Factfinder. Table S2401: Occupation by Sex for the Civilian Employed Population 16 Years and Over 2017 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates. Accessed at: https://factfinder.census. gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS_17_1YR_ S2401&prodType=table
- U.S. Census Bureau. Major Occupation Groups by Percentage of Mothers of Preschoolers Opting Out of the Labor Force: 2009. https://www.census.gov/ newsroom/pdf/women_workforce_slides_part8.pdf
- U.S. Department of Labor. Women's Bureau. April 2015. Most Common Occupations for Women. 2015 Current Population Survey. https://www.dol.gov/wb/stats/most_ common_occupations_for_women.htm
- U.S. Department of Labor. 2014. Women's Bureau. Traditional and Nontraditional Occupations. Accessed September 2018: https://www.dol.gov/wb/stats/nontra_ traditional_occupations.htm
- Why Women Leave Engineering: The SWE Gender Culture Study (April 2016) SWE Magazine, Spring 2016. 32-35. http://alltogether.swe.org/2016/04/women-leaveengineering-swe-gender-culture-study/
- Women's Issues in Transportation "Bridging the Gap" 5th International Conference Proceedings from Paris. April 14-16, 2014. https://wiit-paris2014.sciencesconf. org/conference/wiit-paris2014/pages/Proceedings_The_5th_International_ Conference_on_WIIT_1.pdf
- Women in Transportation Seminar (WTS) Knowledge Lab. 2011. https://www. wtsinternational.org/knowledge-lab/
- Women Transportation Seminar (WTS). 2011. Transportation You DC Youth Summit. https://www.wtsinternational.org/wts-foundation/transportation-you/
- Women in Transportation Seminar (WTS) 2013. Women in Transport: Good for Business. https://www.wtsinternational.org/women-in-transport-good-for-business/
- Zimmerman, Kaytie. Forbes. Eight Ways to Retain Female Talent After Maternity Leave. June 2017. Accessed: https://www.forbes.com/sites/ kaytiezimmerman/2017/06/18/8-ways-to-retain-female-talent-after-maternityleave/#1671067a7f2d

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

JODI GODFREY, MSCE

Jodi Godfrey is a Research Associate at the Center for Urban Transportation Research at the University of South Florida (USF) where she works on the Transit Safety and Workforce Development Programs and the Mobility Policy Research Teams. Ms. Godfrey received her Bachelor's and Master's Degrees in Civil Engineering from USF in 2013 and 2015 respectively. Jodi is a member of the TRB's Task Force on Transit Safety and Security, and a graduate of the ITE's Leadership program, Class of 2017. Jodi is also a member of the International ITE STEM Subcommittee and Women in ITE Task Force, and is the current Treasurer for the Tampa Bay Chapter of ITE.

ROBERT L. BERTINI, PH.D.

Dr. Robert Bertini is the Director of the Center for Urban Transportation Research at the University of South Florida (USF). Dr. Bertini is currently the chair of the TRB Operations Section (AHB00), overseeing 13 committees and one task force. He serves as a member of the Board of Governors of the IEEE Intelligent Transportation Systems Society. Dr. Bertini was also named the WTS Tampa Bay Person of the Year in 2018.

PEER REVIEW

San José State University, of the California State University system, and the MTI Board of Trustees have agreed upon a peer review process required for all research published by MTI. The purpose of the review process is to ensure that the results presented are based upon a professionally acceptable research protocol.

MTI FOUNDER

Hon. Norman Y. Mineta

MTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Founder, Honorable Norman Mineta (Ex-Officio) Secretary (ret.), US Department of Transportation Vice Chair Hill & Knowlton, Inc.

Honorary Chair, Honorable Bill Shuster (Ex-Officio) Chair House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee United States House of Representatives

Honorary Co-Chair, Honorable Peter DeFazio (Ex-Officio) Vice Chair House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee United States House of Representatives

Chair, Grace Crunican (**TE 2019**) General Manager Bay Area Rapid Transit District (BART)

Vice Chair, Abbas Mohaddes (TE 2018) President & COO Econolite Group Inc.

Executive Director, Karen Philbrick, Ph.D. (Ex-Officio) Mineta Transportation Institute San José State University Richard Anderson (Ex-Officio) President and CEO Amtrak

Laurie Berman (Ex-Officio) Director California Department of Transportation

Donna DeMartino (TE 2018) General Manager and CEO San Joaquin Regional Transit District

Mortimer Downey* (TE 2018) President Mort Downey Consulting, LLC

Nuria Fernandez* (TE 2020) General Manager & CEO Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority

John Flaherty (TE 2020) Senior Fellow Silicon Valley American Leadership Forum

Rose Guilbault (TE 2020) Board Member Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board

Ed Hamberger (Ex-Officio) President & CEO Association of American Railroads Steve Heminger* (TE 2018) Executive Director Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC)

Diane Woodend Jones (TE 2019) Principal & Chair of Board Lea + Elliot, Inc.

Will Kempton (TE 2019) Retired

Art Leahy (TE 2018) CEO Metrolink

Jean-Pierre Loubinoux (Ex-Officio) Director General International Union of Railways (UIC)

Bradley Mims (TE 2020) President & CEO Conference of Minority Transportation Officials (COMTO)

Jeff Morales (TE 2019) Managing Principal InfraStrategies, LLC

Dan Moshavi, Ph.D. (Ex-Officio) Dean Lucas College and Graduate School of Business San José State University Dan Smith (TE 2020) President Capstone Financial Group, Inc.

Paul Skoutelas (Ex-Officio) President & CEO American Public Transportation Authority (APTA)

Beverley Swaim-Staley (TE 2019) President Union Station Redevelopment Corporation

Larry Willis (Ex-Officio) President Transportation Trades Dept., AFL-CIO

Bud Wright (Ex-Officio) Executive Director American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO)

(TE) = Term Expiration * = Past Chair, Board of Trustees

Directors

Karen Philbrick, Ph.D. Executive Director

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, Ph.D. Education Director National Transportation Finance Center Director

Hilary Nixon, Ph.D. Research & Technology Transfer Director

Brian Michael Jenkins National Transportation Security Center Director

Research Associates Policy Oversight Committee

Jan Botha, Ph.D. Civil & Environmental Engineering San José State University

Katherine Kao Cushing, Ph.D. Enviromental Science San José State University

Dave Czerwinski, Ph.D. Marketing and Decision Science San José State University

Frances Edwards, Ph.D. Political Science San José State University **Taeho Park, Ph.D.** Organization and Management San José State University

Christa Bailey Martin Luther King, Jr. Library San José State University

